2010

Leslie D. Mower v. David R. Simpson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca3



Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Court of Appeals; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Craig Carlile; Caleb J. Freshnect; Ray, Quinney & Nebeker; Chris D. Greenwood; Attorneys for Appellees.

Bart J. Bailey; William T. Jennings; Bailey & Jennings; Attorneys for Appellants.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellant, *Mower v. Simpson*, No. 20100532 (Utah Court of Appeals, 2010).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca3/2410

This Brief of Appellant is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Court of Appeals Briefs by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. Policies regarding these Utah briefs are available at http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html. Please contact the Repository Manager at hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu with questions or feedback.

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

LESLIE D. MOWER, an individual, et. al,

Plaintiffs and Appellants;

vs.

DAVID R. SIMPSON, an individual, et. al,

Defendants and Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals No. 20100532

District Court Civil No. 090403844

ADDENDUM TO APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

Appeal from the Order of the Fourth District Court,
Utah County, Provo Division, The Honorable Samuel D. McVey

Craig Carlile

Caleb J. Freschnect

Ray Quinney & Nebeker, P.C.

86 North University Ave., Suite 430

Provo, Utah 84601

Telephone; (801) 342-2400

Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees: David R. Simpson; Nathan R. Simpson; Michael K. Thompson; Todd Dorny; Brandon Dente; ALS Properties, LLC; Mai Ke Kula, LLC; Hanalei Kai Holdings, LLC; Ka Mahina, LLC; He Kiakolu, LLC; Koamalu Plantation, LLC; Landmark Real Estate, Inc.; Wood Springs, LLC; Oak Leaf, LLC; Dente, LLC; Sunny Ridge; KNDJ Development; DN Simpson Holdings; SOS Mapleton Development, LLC; DN Simpson Mapleton Holdings, LLC; The Preserve at Mapleton Development Company, LLC; Pheasant Meadows, LLC; Carnesecca Orchard Estates, LLC; Spanish Vista Plat I, LLC; Landmark Homes of Utah, LLC; Maple Mountain Water Tank, LLC.

Bart J. Bailey

William T. Jennings

Bailey & Jennings, LC

584 South State Street

Orem, Utah 84058

Telephone: (801) 426-8600

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants
Leslie D. Mower; LD SQ, LLC; LD III, LLC; LD Purpose, LLC; and
Navona, LC.

**FILED
UTAH APPELLATE COURTS
FEB 22 2011**

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

LESLIE D. MOWER, an individual, et. al,

Plaintiffs and Appellants;

vs.

DAVID R. SIMPSON, an individual, et. al,

Defendants and Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals No. 20100532

District Court Civil No. 090403844

ADDENDUM TO APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

Appeal from the Order of the Fourth District Court,
Utah County, Provo Division, The Honorable Samuel D. McVey

Craig Carlile

Caleb J. Freschnect

Ray Quinney & Nebeker, P.C.

86 North University Ave., Suite 430

Provo, Utah 84601

Telephone; (801) 342-2400

Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees: David R. Simpson; Nathan R. Simpson; Michael K. Thompson; Todd Dorny; Brandon Dente; ALS Properties, LLC; Mai Ke Kula, LLC; Hanalei Kai Holdings, LLC; Ka Mahina, LLC; He Kiakolu, LLC; Koamalu Plantation, LLC; Landmark Real Estate, Inc.; Wood Springs, LLC; Oak Leaf, LLC; Dente, LLC; Sunny Ridge; KNDJ Development; DN Simpson Holdings; SOS Mapleton Development, LLC; DN Simpson Mapleton Holdings, LLC; The Preserve at Mapleton Development Company, LLC; Pheasant Meadows, LLC; Carnesecca Orchard Estates, LLC; Spanish Vista Plat I, LLC; Landmark Homes of Utah, LLC; Maple Mountain Water Tank, LLC.

Bart J. Bailey

William T. Jennings

Bailey & Jennings, LC

584 South State Street

Orem, Utah 84058

Telephone: (801) 426-8600

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants
Leslie D. Mower; LD SQ, LLC; LD III, LLC; LD Purpose, LLC; and
Navona, LC.

Chris D. Greenwood
1840 North State Street, Suite 200
Provo, Utah 84601
Telephone: (801) 377-4652
Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees: Allen Hakes
and Lonestar Gutters, LLC.

Mark D. Eddy
233 South Pleasant Grove Blvd., Suite 202
Pleasant Grove, Utah 84062
Telephone: (801) 443-2380
Attorneys for Defendant/Appellee Michael Aviano

Jonathon L. Jaussi
P.O. Box 460
Payson, Utah 84651
Telephone: (810) 418-7797
Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees Dallas Hakes
and Lonestar Builders, Inc.

Julian D. Jensen
311 South State St., Suite 380
Salt Lake city, Utah 84111
Telephone: (801) 531-6600
Attorney for Defendants/Appellees Chad Carlson
and 2 Brothers Communications.

Steven R. Sumsion
86 North University Ave., suite 400
Provo, Utah 84601
Telephone: (801) 375-2830
Attorneys for Defendant/Appellee David Nemelka

ADDENDUM TABLE OF CONTENTS

- A. Determinative Statutes, Ordinances, Rules and Regulations.
- B. Second Amended Complaint filed March 5, 2010. Rec. 3194-2834.
- C. Ruling and Order on Defendants' Motions to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint, dated June 22, 2010. Rec. 5605-5600.
- D. Ruling and Order on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Fraud Claims in Second Amended Complaint Under Rule 19, dated June 16, 2010. Rec. 5595-5591.
- E. Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint, dated April 13, 2010. Rec. 5267-5263.
- F. Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint, dated April 13, 2010. Rec. 5288-5263.
- G. Excerpts from Transcript of Oral Argument - May 13, 2010. Rec. 6136, pp. 182, 183, 184, 186, 203 & 217.

Tab A

STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO APPEAL

Rule 9(b) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

(b) Fraud, mistake, condition of the mind. In all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity. Malice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a person may be averred generally.

Rule 15 of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure: Amended and supplemental pleadings

(a) Amendments. A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, he may so amend it at any time within 20 days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires. A party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within 10 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be the longer, unless the court otherwise orders.

(b) Amendments to conform to the evidence. When issues not raised by the pleading are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendments of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails

to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits. The court shall grant a continuance, if necessary, to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence.

(c) Relation back of amendments. Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading.

(d) Supplemental pleadings. Upon motion of a party the court may, upon reasonable notice and upon such terms as are just, permit him to serve a supplemental pleading setting forth transactions or occurrences or events which have happened since the date of the pleading sought to be supplemented. Permission may be granted even though the original pleading is defective in its statement of a claim for relief or defense. If the court deems it advisable that the adverse party plead to the supplemental pleading, it shall so order, specifying the time therefor.

Rule 19 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure: Joinder of persons needed for just adjudication

(a) Persons to be joined if feasible. A person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of action shall be joined as a party in the action if (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of his claimed interest. If he has not been so joined, the court shall order that he be made a party. If he should join as a plaintiff but refuses to do so, he may be made a defendant, or, in a proper

case, an involuntary plaintiff. If the joined party objects to venue and his joinder would render the venue of the action improper, he shall be dismissed from the action.

(b) Determination by court whenever joinder not feasible. If a person as described in Subdivision (a)(1)-(2) hereof cannot be made a party, the court shall determine whether in equity and good conscience the action should proceed among the parties before it, or should be dismissed, the absent person being thus regarded as indispensable. The factors to be considered by the court include: first, to what extent a judgment rendered in the person's absence might be prejudicial to him or those already parties; second, the extent to which, by protective provisions in the judgment, by the shaping of relief, or other measure, the prejudice can be lessened or avoided; third, whether a judgment rendered in the person's absence will be adequate; fourth, whether the plaintiff will have an adequate remedy if the action is dismissed for nonjoinder.

(c) Pleading reasons for nonjoinder. A pleading asserting a claim for relief shall state the names, if known to the pleader, of any persons as described in Subdivision (a)(1)-(2) hereof who are not joined, and the reasons why they are not joined.

(d) Exception of class actions. This rule is subject to the provisions of Rule 23.

Tab B

CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT
STATE OF UTAH
UTAH COUNTY
2008 MAR -5 P 4:08

Bart J. Bailey (172)
William T. Jennings (8213)
BAILEY & JENNINGS, LC
584 South State Street
Orem, Utah 84058
Telephone: (801) 426-8600
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

**IN THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT
UTAH COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH**

LESLIE D. MOWER, an individual; LD SQ, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; LD III, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; LD PURPOSE, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; and, NAVONA, LC, a Utah limited liability company;

Plaintiffs;

vs.

DAVID R. SIMPSON, an individual; NATHAN R. SIMPSON, an individual; MICHAEL K. THOMPSON, an individual; TODD DORNY, an individual; BRANDON DENTE, an individual; DAVID N. NEMELKA, an individual; DALLAS M. HAKES, an individual; CHAD D. CARLSON, an individual; MICHAEL A. MARX, an individual; ALLEN R. HAKES, an individual; MICHAEL W. AVIANO, an individual; ALS PROPERTIES, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company; MAI KE KULA, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company; HANAIEI KAI HOLDINGS, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company; KA MAHINA, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company; HE KIAKOLU, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company; KOAMALU PLANTATION, LLC, a Hawaii limited liability company; LANDMARK REAL ESTATE, INC., a Utah corporation; WOOD SPRINGS, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; Oak Leaf, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; DENTE, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; SUNNY RIDGE, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; KNDJ DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; DN SIMPSON HOLDINGS, LLC, a Utah limited liability company;

**SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT**

Case No. 090403844

Judge: McVey

SOS MAPLETON DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; DN SIMPSON MAPLETON HOLDINGS, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; THE PRESERVE AT MAPLETON DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; PHEASANT MEADOWS, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; CARNESECCA ORCHARD ESTATES, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; SPANISH VISTA PLAT I, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; LANDMARK HOMES OF UTAH, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; MAPLE MOUNTAIN WATER TANK, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; LONESTAR GUTTERS, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; 2 BROTHERS COMMUNICATIONS, a sole proprietorship; LONESTAR BUILDERS, INC., a fictitious entity; and, DOES 1-100;

Defendants;

and

KOAMALU PLANTATION INVESTMENT, LLC, a Utah limited liability company; BANK OF AMERICAN FORK, a Utah Corporation; and, KATHYA. TEMPLEMAN, an individual;

Rule 19 Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiffs hereby seek remedies of, and damages against, all Defendants, including Does 1 through 100, individually and jointly, pursuant to statutory and common law claims of breach of fiduciary duties, conspiracy, fraud and intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, conversion, unjust enrichment, pattern of unlawful activity, breach of contract, detrimental reliance, promissory estoppel, quasi contract, constructive trust, equitable lien and specific performance.

2. Plaintiffs also seek injunctive relief from Defendants David R. Simpson,

Nathan R. Simpson, David N. Nemelka, Michael W. Aviano, Koamalu Plantation, LLC, Wood Springs, LLC, Sunny Ridge, LLC, The Preserve at Mapleton Development Company, LLC, Carnesecca Orchard Estates, LLC, and, Spanish Vista Plat I, LLC, to prevent the alienation, transfer or waste of assets.

THE PARTIES

3. Plaintiff Leslie D. Mower ("Leslie") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

4. Plaintiff LD SQ, LLC ("LD SQ") is a Utah limited liability company. Its registered office address is 584 South State Street, Orem, Utah 84058. At all times relevant herein, Leslie was the sole member of LD SQ.

5. Plaintiff LD III, LLC ("LD III") is a Utah limited liability company. Its registered office address is 584 South State Street, Orem, Utah 84058. At all times relevant herein, Leslie was the sole member of LD III.

6. Plaintiff LD Purpose, LLC ("LD Purpose") is a Utah limited liability company. Its registered office address is 584 South State Street, Orem, Utah 84058. At all times relevant herein, Leslie was the sole member of LD Purpose.

7. Plaintiff Navona, LC ("Navona") is a Utah limited liability company. Its registered office address is 86 North University Avenue, Suite 400, Provo, Utah 84601. At all times relevant herein, Leslie was the sole member of Navona. At all times relevant herein, Navona was and is a successor-in-interest of MagnetBank.

8. Defendant David R. Simpson ("David Simpson") is an individual residing in

Utah County, State of Utah.

9. At all times relevant herein, David Simpson was licensed by the State of Utah as an Associate Real Estate Broker, license number 5462077-AB00.

10. Defendant Nathan R. Simpson ("Nathan Simpson") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

11. Nathan Simpson is licensed by the State of Utah as a Real Estate Sales Agent, license number 5569103-SA00 since at least January 27, 2004. His license is currently inactive.

12. Defendant Michael K. Thompson ("Michael Thompson") is an individual residing in Davis County, State of Utah.

13. At all times relevant herein, Michael Thompson claimed to have at least seven years experience developing and constructing condominiums in Hawaii.

14. Defendant Todd Dorny is an individual residing in Kauai County, State of Hawaii.

15. On information and belief, at all times relevant herein, Todd Dorny was a real estate developer and mortgage solicitor with several years experience developing real property.

16. Defendant Brandon Dente is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

17. On information and belief, at all times relevant herein, Brandon Dente was a mortgage broker with several years experience financing real property.

18. Defendant David N. Nemelka ("David Nemelka") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

19. Defendant Dallas M. Hakes ("Dallas Hakes") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

20. Defendant Chad D. Carlson ("Chad Carlson") is an individual residing in Iron County, State of Utah.

21. Defendant Michael A. Marx ("Michael Marx") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

22. Defendant Allen R. Hakes ("Allen Hakes") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

23. Defendant Michael W. Aviano ("Michael Aviano") is an individual residing in Utah County, State of Utah.

24. Defendant ALS Properties, LLC ("ALS") is a Hawaii limited liability company formed November 30, 1999. Its registered mailing address is P.O. Box 477, Koloa, Hawaii 96756. Its registered agent is Todd Dorny at the same address. It is currently not in good standing with Hawaii's Department of Commerce because it failed to make its annual filings with the Department of Commerce beginning in 2006.

25. Defendant Mai Ke Kula, LLC ("Mai Ke Kula") is a Hawaii limited liability company formed July 3, 2001. Its registered mailing address is 1358 East Elk Hollow Road, North Salt Lake, Utah 84054. Its registered agent is Todd Dorny at P.O. Box 1840, 2330 Hoohu Road, Apt. 1, Koloa, Hawaii 95756.

26. Defendant Hanalei Kai Holdings, LLC ("Hanalei Kai") is a Hawaii limited liability company formed July 3, 2001. Its registered mailing address is P.O. Box 477, Koloa, Hawaii 96756. Its registered agent is Todd Dorny at P.O. Box 1840, Koloa, Hawaii 96756. It is currently not in good standing with Hawaii's Department of Commerce because it failed to make its annual filing with the Department of Commerce in 2008.

27. Defendant Ka Mahina, LLC ("Ka Mahina") is a Hawaii limited liability company formed March 10, 2005. Its registered mailing address is P.O. Box 1840, Koloa, Hawaii 96756. Its registered agent is Todd Dorny at the same address. It is currently not in good standing with Hawaii's Department of Commerce because it failed to make its annual filing with the Department of Commerce in 2008.

28. Defendant He Kiakolu, LLC ("He Kiakolu") is a Hawaii limited liability company formed March 10, 2005. Its registered mailing address is P.O. Box 1840, Koloa, Hawaii 96756. Its registered agent is Todd Dorny at the same address. It is currently not in good standing with Hawaii's Department of Commerce because it failed to make its annual filing with the Department of Commerce in 2008.

29. Defendant Koamalu Plantation, LLC ("Koamalu") is a Hawaii limited liability company formed March 10, 2005. Its registered mailing address is P.O. Box 1840, Koloa, Hawaii 96756. Its registered agent is Todd Dorny at the same address. It is currently not in good standing with Hawaii's Department of Commerce because it failed to make its annual filing with the Department of Commerce in 2008. At all times relevant herein, Koamalu was owned equally by LD SQ and He Kiakolu.

30. Defendant Landmark Real Estate, Inc. ("Landmark") is a Utah corporation formed January 23, 1998. Its registered office address is 407 North Main Street, Springville, Utah 84663. Its registered agent is David Simpson at the same address.

31. Defendant Wood Springs, LLC ("Wood Springs"), (also known as "Woodsprings, LLC"), is a Utah limited liability company formed March 3, 1999. Its registered office address is 407 North Main Street, Springville, Utah 84663. Its registered agent is David Simpson at the same address.

32. Defendant Oak Leaf, LLC ("Oak Leaf") is a Utah limited liability company formed December 18, 1998. Its registered office address is 1490 West 800 North, Mapleton, Utah 84664. Its registered agent is R. Lynn Bjarnson at the same address.

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