2010

Leslie D. Mower v. David R. Simpson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b) requires the Plaintiffs to plead their fraudulent allegations against Mr. Aviano with particularity. However, with respect to Plaintiffs’ allegations and causes of action against Mr. Aviano, the Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint failed to satisfy the heightened pleading requirements of UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b). Even if Plaintiffs’ allegations did satisfy the requirements of UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b), Plaintiffs’

causes of action, nevertheless, fail to state a claim against Mr. Aviano. Consequently, the district court was correct in dismissing any fraud-based cause of action alleged against Mr. Aviano, and the district court's ruling should be affirmed.

Furthermore, although the Rules of Procedure tend to favor granting a party leave to amend its pleadings, "the matter remains in the sound discretion of the trial court." *Westley*, 663 P.2d at 94. A district court is well within its discretion to deny a party leave to amend its pleadings when doing so would cause unnecessary delay, and when the party seeking leave has had an adequate opportunity to properly draft its pleadings. *See, Id.* Consequently, under the circumstances of the present case, where the case had been pending for eight months and the Plaintiffs had already been given four opportunities to properly plead their allegations, the district court was correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' fraud-based claims against Mr. Aviano without leave to amend. Consequently, the district court's ruling should be affirmed.

Finally, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), a defendant "admits the facts alleged in the complaint but challenges the plaintiff's right to relief based on those facts." *Helf*, 2009 UT 11, ¶ 14, 203 P.3d at 967. Because Utah does not recognize the aiding and abetting causes of action contained in Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint, the district court was also correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' aiding and abetting causes of action, pursuant to UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6). However, even if Utah did recognize Plaintiffs' aiding and abetting causes of action, in light of the Plaintiffs' allegations in connection with those causes of action, the district court was, nevertheless, correct in dismissing the

same pursuant to UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), with respect to Mr. Aviano. Therefore, the district court's ruling should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO PLEAD FRAUD WITH PARTICULARITY AGAINST MR. AVIANO.

“In *all* averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity.” UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b)(emphasis added). Furthermore, “the Rule 9(b) requirement should not be understood as limited to allegations of common-law fraud...[I]t reach[es] all circumstances where the pleader alleges the kind of misrepresentations, omissions, or other deceptions covered by the term ‘fraud’ in its broadest dimension.” *Coroles*, 2003 UT App 339, ¶ 39 (alterations in original, citing *Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 656 P.2d 966, 972 (Utah 1982)). Moreover, “where fraud lies at the core of the action, Rule 9(b) applies...The requirements of Rule 9(b) apply to all cases where the gravamen of the claim is fraud even though the theory supporting the claim is not technically termed fraud.” *Coroles*, *supra* (citing *Hayduk v. Lanna*, 775 F.2d 441, 443 (1st Cir. 1985), and *Adams v. NVR Homes, Inc.*, 193 F.R.D. 243, 250 (D.Md. 2000)). Additionally, an allegation of fraud asserted upon “information and belief” is only adequate under UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b) if such allegation “includes the facts upon which the belief is based.” *Kuhre v. Goodfellow*, 2003 UT App 85, ¶ 24, 69 P.3d 286 (citing *Arena Land & Inv. Co. v. Petty*, 906 F. Supp. 1470, 1476 (D.Utah 1994)). However, conclusory and conjectural statements are

insufficient. *Daines v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 39, 190 P.3d 1269.

Even in light of Utah's liberal pleading rules, Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint, nevertheless, fails to allege any fraud-based cause of action against Mr. Aviano with the particularity required by UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b). Consequently, the district court was correct in dismissing all such fraud-based causes of action with respect to Mr. Aviano.

In order to state a claim for fraud, the Plaintiffs must have pleaded each of the following elements with particularity:

(1) a representation was made; (2) concerning a presently existing material fact; (3) which was false; (4) which the representor either (a) knew to be false, or (b) made recklessly, knowing that he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation; (5) for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it; (6) that the other party, acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity; (7) did in fact rely upon it; (8) and was thereby induced to act; (9) to his injury and damage.

See, Maack v. Res. Design & Constr., 875 P.2d 570 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994), and *Gold Standard, Inc. v. Getty Oil Co.*, 915 P.2d 1060 (Utah 1996). As noted above, however, Plaintiffs' base their claims of fraud on a single real estate purchase transaction, whereby the Plaintiff, as an assignee of MagnetBank, suffered no damage. Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Aviano executed various closing documents, evidencing the fact that Mr. Aviano purchased a certain parcel of real property for \$900,000.00. *See, Rec.*, 3054, ¶¶ 408-409, 2964, ¶ 800, and 2032, ¶ 944. In addition, Plaintiffs allege that the aforementioned closing documents represented that the Plaintiffs, as assignees of MagnetBank, would receive approximately \$900,000.00 from the proceeds of the sale of

the above-referenced parcel of real property, and that the Plaintiffs actually did receive approximately \$900,000.00 from the proceeds thereof. *See*, Rec., 3054, ¶ 410, 2964, ¶ 802, and 2931, ¶ 946. Therefore, based upon the Plaintiffs' express allegations, Mr. Aviano is unable to see exactly how such a transaction can be deemed fraudulent when the representations that were made were actually true and fulfilled, and where Plaintiffs did not suffer any damage.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in an attempt to state a fraud-based claim against Mr. Aviano, the Plaintiffs make the confusing, unsubstantiated, and speculative conclusion that the aforementioned real estate transaction involved fraud because the sales price of the real property was allegedly only \$575,000.00, rather than \$900,000.00, despite what the aforementioned closing documents provided and despite the proceeds actually received by MagnetBank. *See*, Rec., 3055, ¶ 405(a). Plaintiffs also allege an unsubstantiated conclusion that the difference of \$325,000.00 ($\$900,000.00 - \$575,000.00 = \$325,000.00$) was paid to Plaintiffs by Mr. Simpson. *See*, Rec., 2964, ¶ 802. Plaintiffs, however, provide no factual allegations in support of these speculative conclusions, not to mention failing to plead such factual allegations with any degree of particularity as required by UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b). Even if the Plaintiffs' allegations concerning Mr. Simpson's alleged payment of a portion of the purchase price were true, Plaintiffs still fail to explain or allege exactly how those actions can be deemed fraudulent – especially in light of the fact that the Plaintiffs actually admit that they received the \$900,000.00 represented in the closing documents. *See*, Rec., 3054, ¶ 410.

Therefore, based upon the foregoing, the district court was correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' fraud-based causes of action, including Plaintiffs' cause of action for intentional misrepresentation, with respect to Mr. Aviano.

In addition to the foregoing, even if Plaintiffs' allegations against Mr. Aviano were sufficient under UTAH R. CIV. P. 9(b), the district court was still correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' intentional misrepresentation claim against Mr. Aviano pursuant to the UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6) portion of Mr. Aviano's Motion to Dismiss, as Plaintiffs have suffered no damages. Consequently, the district court's decision should still be affirmed. *See, Dipoma v. McPhie*, 2001 UT 61, ¶ 18, 29 P.3d 1225 (“[A]n appellate court may affirm the judgment appealed from ‘if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action.’”(citing *Limb v. Federated Milk Producers Ass’n*, 23 Utah 2d 222, 461 P.2d 290, 293 n.2 (1969)(plurality opinion)).

“[I]n ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court must construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and indulge all *reasonable* inferences in his favor.” *Mounteer v. Utah Power & Light Co.*, 823 P.2d 1055, 1058 (Utah 1991)(emphasis added). However, mere legal conclusions will not will not provide a sufficient basis to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, as such conclusions “are stillborn for all purposes, when they are stated in the place of ultimate facts.” *Chesney v. Chesney*, 94 P. 989, 992 (Utah 1903). In short, “[m]atters of substance, which are necessary to be alleged in a complaint, *cannot be left out.*” *Id.* at 993 (emphasis

added). Furthermore, the objective of Utah's liberal pleading rules "is to require that the *essential* facts upon which redress is sought be set forth with simplicity, brevity, clarity and certainty so that it can be determined whether there exists a legal basis for the relief claimed." *Coroles*, 2003 UT App 339, ¶ 23 (emphasis added).

In the present case, an essential element in pleading fraud is that of damages. *See, Maack*, 875 P.2d 570. While Plaintiffs alleged that their predecessor in interest, MagnetBank, "reasonably relied on the contents of the closing documents," *See, Rec.*, 2963, ¶ 809, which provide that MagnetBank was to receive approximately \$900,000.00 from the proceeds of the aforementioned real estate transaction, Plaintiffs also allege that MagnetBank actually did receive "just under \$900,000.00" *Id.* at 3054, ¶ 410, and 2964, ¶ 802. Simply stated, Plaintiffs allege that they relied on the closing documents, which represented that Plaintiffs would receive a certain sum of money, and Plaintiffs did, in fact, receive that certain sum of money, regardless of where that money came from. Therefore, by their own allegations, accepting such allegations as true for the purposes of UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), Plaintiffs received exactly what they thought and agreed they would receive and, thus, have suffered no damage thereby. Consequently, Plaintiffs' fraud-based causes of action fail to state a claim against Mr. Aviano. Consequently, the district court was also correct in dismissing such claims against Mr. Aviano pursuant to UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6).

///

[CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE]

II. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS ALSO CORRECT IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS LEAVE TO AMEND THEIR COMPLAINT AGAIN.

Although the Rules of Procedure tend to favor granting a party leave to amend its pleadings, “the matter remains in the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Westley*, 663 P.2d at 94. A district court is well within its discretion to deny a party leave to amend its pleadings when doing so would cause unnecessary delay, and when the party seeking leave has had an adequate opportunity to properly draft its pleadings. *See, Id.* Furthermore, Utah courts typically focus on three factors when considering whether to allow a party leave to amend its pleadings. *See, Kelly v. Hard Money Funding, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 44, 87 P.3d 734. First, “the timeliness of the motion.” *Id.* at ¶ 26. Second, “the justification given by the movant for the delay.” *Id.* And finally, “the resulting prejudice to the responding party.” *Id.*

Under the circumstances of the present case, the district court was correct in not allowing the Plaintiffs leave to amend their complaint. For example, after eight months, the Plaintiffs had already been allowed to amend their complaint four times prior to the district court’s dismissal without leave to amend. For example, Plaintiffs filed their original complaint on October 20, 2009. *See, Rec.*, 461. The Plaintiffs filed their First Amended Complaint on November 27, 2009, thus having their second chance to properly plead their claims. *See, Rec.*, 2143. Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Complaint on March 5, 2010 (third chance), as well as lengthy Errata to the Second Amended Complaint on March 15, 2010 (fourth chance). *See, Rec.*, 4997 and 5048.

Notwithstanding Plaintiffs' multiple attempts to properly plead their claims, the Plaintiffs still had failed to plead fraud with particularity against Mr. Aviano, as explained in greater detail, above. Consequently, the Plaintiffs caused at least eight months of delay, and sought to potentially cause even more delay by trying a fifth time to properly plead their causes of action. Therefore, because of the delay alone caused by the Plaintiffs, the district court was correct in not allowing Plaintiffs leave to amend their Second Amended Complaint.

In addition to the foregoing, each time the Plaintiffs attempted to amend their pleadings, Mr. Aviano would necessarily expend a substantial amount of time, resources, and attorneys fees, in responding to Plaintiffs' inadequate pleadings. Moreover, the longer this case continued, the longer Mr. Aviano would be forced to conduct his life and his business under the constant stigma of being named as a defendant in a seemingly never-ending lawsuit. Consequently, Mr. Aviano, as well as many other named Defendants/Appellees, were being severely prejudiced, thus providing further justification for the district court's decision not to allow Plaintiffs leave to amend again.

Based upon the foregoing, the district court was correct in its decision not to allow the Plaintiffs leave to amend their Second Amended Complaint.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT UTAH DOES NOT RECOGNIZE AIDING AND ABETTING AS VALID CAUSES OF ACTION.

The Utah Court of Appeals has not recognized civil causes of action for aiding and abetting. *See, Coroles*, 2003 UT App 339 at n. 19. Consequently, the district court was

correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' aiding and abetting causes of action pursuant to UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6).

Even if this Court were to recognize civil causes of action for aiding and abetting, the district court was still correct, on at least three separate grounds, in dismissing said causes of action with respect to Mr. Aviano. Either way, the district court's decision should be affirmed. *See, Dipoma v. McPhie*, 2001 UT 61, ¶ 18.

First, because the only allegations contained in the Second Amended Complaint against Mr. Aviano deal with the aforementioned real estate purchase transaction, and because Plaintiffs' attempted basis for such allegations against Mr. Aviano rest in fraud, and because Plaintiffs have failed to plead fraud with the requisite particularity against Mr. Aviano, Plaintiffs' aiding and abetting claims were also properly dismissed. *See, Coroles*, 2003 UT App 339, ¶ 39 (“[W]here fraud lies at the core of the action, Rule 9(b) applies...The requirements of Rule 9(b) apply to all cases where the gravamen of the claim is fraud even though the theory supporting the claim is not technically termed fraud.” (citing *Hayduk v. Lanna*, 775 F.2d 441, 443 (1st Cir. 1985), and *Adams v. NVR Homes, Inc.*, 193 F.R.D. 243, 250 (D.Md. 2000))). Therefore, because the Plaintiffs generally failed to adequately plead fraud against Mr. Aviano, the district court was correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' aiding and abetting claims (which used the same allegations as their basis) with respect to Mr. Aviano.

Second, even if this Court were to recognize Plaintiffs' aiding and abetting causes of action, said causes of action must necessarily fail as “[w]e only hold that *if* this cause

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